IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 95-21044
Summary Cal endar

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,

ver sus

DI RON WEBSTER OLI VER,
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court for the
Sout hern District of Texas
(CR H 94-231-3)

Cct ober 9, 1996
Bef ore GARWOOD, JOLLY and DENNI'S, Circuit Judges.”’

GARWOOD, Circuit Judge:

In this appeal, defendant-appellant Diron diver (Qdiver)
conplains of the sentence inposed under the United States
Sentencing GQuidelines (U S.S.G) follow ng his conviction on a plea
of guilty to a charge of receiving stolen noney froma federally
insured bank in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2113(c). diver raises

two argunents on appeal: (1) the district court erred in not

Pursuant to Local Rule 47.5, the Court has determ ned that
this opinion should not be published and is not precedent except
under the Ilimted circunstances set forth in Local Rule 47.5. 4.



awar di ng hi ma two-1 evel reduction for acceptance of responsibility
under section 3E1.1 of the U.S.S. G and (2) the governnent breached
the pl ea agreenent by failing to recommend to the court that Aiver
receive a reduction for acceptance of responsibility. For the
reasons that follow, we affirm
Facts and Proceedi ngs Bel ow

On August 23, 1994, twelve individuals, armed wwth .9 and .45
m | limeter handguns and shot guns, robbed the Nornmangee State Bank
of Nor mangee, Texas. One of those individuals, Steven Thonas,
contacted AQiver and enlisted Aiver’s assistance to transport him
and harbor him in Qiver’s residence. Aiver later cane into
knowi ng possession of the proceeds of the bank robbery, which
i ncluded giving Thomas’s girlfriend $750 of the stolen noney and
usi ng the proceeds to purchase noney orders.

diver was charged by indictnent wth being an accessory after
the fact of the bank robbery in violation of 18 U S.C. §8 3 (Count
1) and receiving stolen noney in violation of 18 U S.C. 8§ 2113(c)
(Count 3). On February 3, 1995, pursuant to Federal Rule of
Crim nal Procedure 11(e)(1)(A) & (B), AQiver enteredintoawitten
pl ea agreenment with the governnment. Jdiver agreed to plead guilty
to Count 3 and to waive the right to appeal his sentence, with two
limted exceptions: diver could appeal his sentence if the court
(1) inposed a sentence above the statutory maxi numor (2) applied

an upward departure fromthe U. S.S. G where the governnent does not



request such a departure. |In exchange, the governnent agreed to
dismss Count 1, and to nake a nonbi nding recomendation to the
court that Jdiver be awarded a reduction for acceptance of
responsibility “if, in the Governnent’s opinion, the defendant is
entitled to such a reduction.”

On Novenber 20, 1995, the Presentence Investigation Report
(PSR) was disclosed, reconmmendi ng deni al of a downward adj ust nent
for acceptance of responsibility pursuant to U S S. G § 3EL 1.
Aiver initially filed witten objections to the PSR chall engi ng
the probation departnent’s reconmmendation, but at sentencing
W t hdrew hi s objections.

At sentencing, the governnent advised the court that diver
had cooperated with the governnent and reconmended that O iver be
sentenced at the | ower end of the guideline range. The court chose
not to follow the governnent’s recommendation, and instead
sentenced Aiver within, but at the higher end of, the guideline
range. diver received a 14-nonth term of inprisonnent, a 2-year
termof supervised rel ease, and was ordered to pay $50 i n mandat ory
cost assessnents.

Di scussi on

Aiver’'s first argunent on appeal is that the district court
m sapplied the sentencing guidelines by not awardi ng a two-point
reduction in his offense level for acceptance of responsibility

despite his witten statenent in the PSR indicating he fully



under st ood t he “t hought| ess and harnful” nature of the crinme he had
commtted. This argunent is without nerit, however, because Qi ver
voluntarily waived his right to appeal his sentence, and thus is
precluded fromraising the issue before this Court.

The right to appeal is not a constitutional right, but rather
a statutory right. United States v. Henderson, 72 F. 3d 463, 464-65
(5th Gr. 1995) (citing Abney v. United States, 431 U S. 651, 656,
97 S.C. 2034, 2038 (1977)). A defendant may waive statutory
rights, including the right to appeal, as part of a pl ea bargaining
agreenent so long as the waiver is inforned and voluntary. United
States v. Melancon, 972 F.2d 566, 567 (5th Gr. 1992). Her e,
diver does not assert that his plea was either unknow ng or
i nvoluntary. Furthernore, after a de novo review of the record, we
must conclude that the plea was both infornmed and vol untary.

The plea agreenent, signed by diver, provides that he
know ngly wai ves the right to appeal the sentence or the manner in
which it was determ ned, except that diver nmay appeal a sentence
i nposed by the court above the statutory maxi mumor if the court
departs wupward from the sentencing gquidelines despite the
governnent’s decision not to request such a departure. The
agreenent goes on to state that the governnent “does not make any
prom se or representation concerning what sentence the defendant
w il receive. Realizing the wuncertainty in estimating what

sentence the defendant will ultimtely receive, the defendant



know ngly waives the right to appeal the sentence in exchange for
t he concessions nade by the United States in this plea agreenent.”

Mor eover, during the rearrai gnnent colloquy, the court asked
Adiver whether he understood that the court was not required to
accept the governnent’s recommendation for a reducti on and whet her
he understood that by pleading guilty he was waiving his right to
appeal the sentence. To these questions, diver answered “Yes,
your honor.”

Because diver’s sentence did not exceed the ten-year
statutory maximum or constitute an upward departure from the
gui del i nes, and because he know ngly and voluntarily waived the
right to appeal his sentence, Aiver cannot chall enge his sentence
on appeal .

Adiver’s second argunent is that the governnent violated the
ternms of the plea agreenent by failing to recommend to the court at
sentencing that diver receive an offense |level reduction for
acceptance of responsibility. Because the prosecutor failed to
recommend explicitly that diver recei ve a downward adj ust nent, and
i nstead asked the court that “M. diver be sentenced to the | ower
end of the applicable guideline range,” diver asserts the
gover nnment breached the agreenent.

Adiver never objected below to the governnent’s failure to
request a guideline downward adjustnent for acceptance of
responsibility. Moreover, at sentencing Aiver did not request an
acceptance of responsibility guideline adjustnent and indeed
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W thdrew his objection to the PSR's failure to recommend such an
adj ust nent . Because diver raises this breach-of-pl ea-agreenent
claimfor the first tinme on appeal, this Court will apply the plain
error standard of review! United States v. Cerverizzo, 74 F.3d
629, 632-33 (5th Cr. 1996). Plain error is only established when
t he defendant denonstrates that (1) there was an error; (2) the
error was clear and obvious; and (3) the error affected the
substantial rights of the appellant. I1d. at 631. If these factors
are established, the decision to correct the error is within the
sound discretion of this Court, and this Court will not exercise
that discretion unless the error “seriously affect[s] the fairness,
integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings.” United
States v. Calverley, 37 F.3d 160, 162 (5th Cr. 1994) (en banc)
(internal quotations and footnotes omtted), cert. denied, U S.
_, 115 S.Ct. 1266 (1995).

W are not convinced that plain error relief should be
af f or ded.

The PSR, in addition to not recomending acceptance of
responsibility, listed “factors that nmy warrant [upward]

departure,” stating, inter alia, “[t]he Court may wi sh to consi der

. The governnent argues that, although this Court has applied
the plain error standard to revi ew breach-of - pl ea- agreenent cl ai ns
raised for the first time on appeal, we should refuse to even
consider Aiver’s clai mbecause he effectively waived it by wai ving
his right to appeal his sentence and failing to object below W
need not address this issue, because even under plain error
analysis, Aiver’'s argunent fails.
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an upward departure based on the defendant’s conduct which is not
sanctioned by the applicable guideline and is tantanount to
harboring a fugitive.”

At sentencing the district judge, despite the governnent’s
favorabl e recommendati on on behalf of diver, chose to sentence
Aiver at the high end of the guideline range after taking into

consi derati on several factors:

“The Court is m ndf ul of the Governnent’s
recommendati on and the statenents made on behalf of M.
diver. The Court does recall M. diver’s testinony

during the trial of this case.

The Court is also mndful of the fact that, as
pointed out in the presentence report, M. diver’s plea
to count 3 neans that the conduct for which he is being
sentenced does not include the nuch harsher penalties
t hat woul d be triggered had he been convi ct ed under count
1, accessory after the fact, although even the conduct to
whi ch he has admitted in the statenent that he's filed
with the Court clearly suggests conduct that would fal
under the statute for accessory after the fact. The
sentencing inthis case therefore presents the Court with
sone troubling considerations.

But the Court is very much aware of M. Qdiver’'s
cooperation with the authorities.

The Court has i nposed a sentence at the high end of
the applicable guideline range in light of two major
factors. One is M. diver’s crimnal history; and two
is the conduct that M. diver has hinself admtted to,
the conduct that does go beyond sinply receiving stolen
noney. That is—the conduct that in this Court’s
judgnent requires, in the interest of punishnment, just
puni shment, deterrence, and incapacitation, that the
sentence be inposed at the high end of the applicable
gui del i ne range.”

Even i f we assune, arguendo, that the governnent breached its



pl ea agreenent obligation to recommend downward adjustnent for
acceptance of responsibility “if, in the Governnent’s opinion, the
defendant is entitled to such a reduction,” any such error is
certainly not plain or obvious, because the PSR did not recomrend
the adjustnent and defense counsel wi thdrew his objection to the
PSR s failure to do so and requested no such adjustnent. If it was
not defense counsel’s or the probation officer’s opinion that
def endant was entitled to such an adjustnent, it is hardly plain or
obvi ous that the governnent was obligated to so conclude. Thus,
Aiver fails at | east the second prong of the plain error anal ysis.
Moreover, A iver has not denonstrated that the district court would
have accepted the governnent’s recomendation for acceptance of
responsibility adjustnent, had it nmade one, particularly as the PSR
did not so recommend and def ense counsel withdrew his objection to
its failure to do so. Cf. Calverley at 164-65 (burden on def endant
to show prejudice resulted). Thus, Odiver also fails the third
prong of the plain error analysis.

Finally, even if Oiver net all the first three elenents of
the plain error test—which he does not—eon consideration of the
record as a whol e we woul d not exerci se our discretion to recognize
the claimed error. W see no serious unfairness or m scarriage of
justice.

Concl usi on

Adiver’s conviction and sentence are accordingly



AFF| RMED.



